Oakland Landmarks Preservation Advisory Board

OAKLAND LANDMARK, S-7/S20 PRESERVATION COMBINING ZONE,
OR HERITAGE PROPERTY APPLICATION FORM

This form is for use in requesting the City of Oakland pursuant to its Zoning Regulations to designate a
Landmark or Heritage Property or to rezone one or more properties to the S-7 or S-20 Preservation Combining
Zone.
1. IDENTIFICATION

Historic Name: Vaughn (M.C.)-Wilson (Caroline) house

and/or Common Name:
2. ADDRESS/LOCATION

Street and number: 5837-5839 Ayala Ave Zip Code: 94609

Assessor’s Parcel Number: 16-1398-11
3. OWNER OF PROPERTY

Name: Rosie Raizen & Josh Benjamin email: rosieraizen@gmail.com | josh.benjamin@gmail.com
Street/Number: 5837/5839 Ayala Ave Telephone: 267-205-2656 | 217-369-6325
City: Oakland State: CA Zip Code: 94609
4. APPLICATION FOR
____ City Landmark __X__Heritage Property _____S-7 District ____S-20 District
5. SURVEY RATING NAME OF SURVEY DATE DEPOSITORY

C2+ | Oakland Citywide Prelim Heritage Survey | 1986 | Oakland City Planning Dept.

Photo Location Map



mailto:rosieraizen@gmail.com
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DESCRIPTION

A. Resource Type and Use: Present (P) and Historic (H)

_____Building(s) ____ District ___ Structure _ Site ____Object
_ X Residential _ Commercial _ Industrial ___ Institutional
_____ Other (specify):
B. Condition: C. Alterations: D. Site
_ Excellent _ Fair _ Unaltered ~X_ Original Site
X Good ____Poor X Altered _____Moved (Date )

1941 upper flat added; 1964-9 unpermitted back addition
E. Style/Type: Craftsman (First Bay Tradition)
F. Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance:

5837-9 Ayala Ave is Craftsman style home, now a duplex, with separate upstairs and downstairs units, each
with its own address. Today an external staircase on the north side of the house provides access from the
driveway to the second floor unit. The exterior of the house features a combination of unpainted and
brown-painted wooden shingles.

The front of the house (see page 1) sports a porch asymmetrically covering 2/3rds of the viewer’s right part of
the house’s face, wrapping around the north side of the house.
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The front door is tucked to the left side on the porch (below, right) - not directly facing the street. One large,
single-frame picture window looks out from the first floor kitchen onto the porch. To the left (when looking
from Ayala Ave), a second large picture window divided into three parts (composed with a double hung window
on each side and three small fixed lights on top), punctuates the face of the house to the viewer’s left. In
between the two large windows, on the southern part of the porch, a stained glass clerestory window graces the
entryway adding a crafty, decorative element to the space. The roof’s is a gabled, pitched roof toward the front
face of the house, and a flat roof on the 1960s back addition. The front roof’s eaves feature exposed beams, a
beautiful expression of the First Bay Tradition architecture’s emphasis on volume and form (Brown, Mary). A
center dormer rises above the first floor, with two double hung wood windows facing Ayala Ave. A side dormer
rises above the external staircase. It is not possible to tell whether this front roof shape is original though it does
match the style of the time it was built; the dormers may have existed previously as an attic before the 1941
upper unit addition, and were simple raised. Or they may have been added at that time.

The stained glass clerestory window (left) Entry door and Northernmost picture window (right)
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The 2024 layout of the lower (left) and upper (right) floors of the house. Floorplans are oriented with the front
(facing Ayala Ave) side of the house toward the top of the page.

29 ¢

Based on plaster and lathe walls and the hardwood flooring, we believe the upper “Kitchen”, “Dining”, “Living
Room”, and “Bath 1” were created as part of the 1941 renovation into a duplex, discussed later in further detail
of owner history. The upper “Primary Bedroom”, “Bedroom 17, and “Bedroom 2” all have linoleum flooring
and we believe those were added in the late 1960s renovation, discussed later in further detail of owner history.
The 1941 addition was aligned with the character of the original house, with wood windows and cedar shake
shingles. The 1960’s addition to the rear of the house was architecturally aligned with the character of the
original house, aside from the introduction of aluminum windows and T1-11 siding.

The foundation's framing wall, the bottom half of the porch’s main columns, and the chimney showcase a
textured, raised cement foundation. Employing textured cement was a unique technique to create a visually
appealing and organic look intended to blur the line between natural world and dwelling (Rehab Right,
Craftsman Bungalow section). Other methods would have involved using splitstone (as Charles Alma Byers
described in the article ‘Split Field Stone as a Valuable Aid in the Building of Attractive Bungalows and Small
Houses' within Gustav Stickley’s 1909 publication, 1988 reprint Craftsman Bungalows)
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Text and image from Craftsman Bungalows: 59 homes from the Craftsman edited by Gustav Stickley, c. 1909

Another element showcasing the unique and distinctive taste of the
first builder are the cement balustrades on the front + right side
faces of the front porch. The porch is also punctuated by three
distinctive columns at each corner of the porch that add
architectural interest to the entryway. The columns are textured
cement on the base, and wood in the elephantine shape starting
about halfway up. Pictured below and left.

View of the NE corner of the porch (right) and diagram of elephantine column repair (left) from Rehab Right.
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From the 1911 Sanborn mapbook (below), the same year the property was built, the house was listed as one and
72 stories and clearly shows the porch as part of the original construction of the house:

However in the index (below), this mapbook is noted as having been updated several times, as recently as
November 1930 and the page showing 5837-39 does seem to have been subjected to some edits.
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The 1945 Sanborn map shows the four houses on the corner - 5837-9 Ayala, 5833 Ayala, 5816 Howell, and
5820 Howell - noted as “C. BL. C.” - a notation indicating Concrete Block Chimney. In fact the builder, M.C.
Vaughn, held permits to each of these properties. These neighboring homes do share certain aesthetic
characteristics (shingles, concrete, 1.5-2 story) while they seem to differ in roof lines. Likely they were more
similar before modifications.
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7. SIGNIFICANCE

A. Construction date(s): 1911
B. Architect/Builder/Designer: M. C. Vaughn
C. Statement of Significance (include summary statement of significance as first paragraph):

The house at 5837/5839 Ayala Ave is a fantastic example of the Craftsman architecture in the First Bay
Tradition. It also bookmarks an important boom in development in North Oakland’s history. It is rare in that its
front face has had few alterations to the original design.

The First Bay Tradition emerged in the 1890s, developed for the next 25 years, and peaked in the mid 1920’s
when over 14,000 bungalows were erected in East Oakland (p.21, Rehab Right). This puts 5837-9 Ayala (built
1911) squarely in the middle of the first wave of Craftsman construction in the Bay Area. Many of the
architectural features of the first wave craftsmans are on proud display to this day: broad, overhanging gables;
shingle siding; cement & stone foundation, porch columns, and fireplace; molded cement balustrade and
elephantine columns on the porch, stained glass clerestory window in the entranceway; and two large,
front-facing picture windows.

From Right Rehab: City of Oakland Planning Department
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The house at 5837-9 Ayala Ave also holds significant historical value as an early 20th century residence
constructed during the formative years of the Claremont Home Tract in the northern reaches of Oakland's
Temescal neighborhood (now commonly referred to as Rockridge). Temescal, a township that encompassed the
entire area between Broadway and Adeline Street, was officially annexed to the City of Oakland in 1897. The
Claremont Home Tract garnered attention in 1907, promptly after the SF earthquake & fire, in an Oakland
Enquirer article that discussed the mapping and dedication of streets by City Engineer Turner, signaling the
beginning of the tract's development (Oakland Enquirer, March 5 1907, page 7).

Advertisements for the available lots in the Claremont Home Tract began appearing in San Francisco

newspapers a month after the article about Engineer Turner, enticing potential buyers with promises of
"splendid investments" in the "warm belt of Alameda County," an area touted for its minimal wind and fog.

From the San Francisco Call and Post on April 14th, 1907
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The block of lots which include 5837-9 Ayala Ave’s lot 14 was initially owned by H. Haynes et. al, as recorded
in the 1911 block book and Quentin’s reference list of tracts (OPL History Center). Subsequently, the property
was sold to Merrill (M.C.) Vaughn. Vaughn and his wife, Emma, made their personal residence in the adjacent
house at 5833 Ayala Ave.

Quentin’s reference list of Northern Alameda County home tracts (OPL History Center, 1987)

H. Haynes is listed at the top of the page in the 1911 block book (left). In the 1912 block book (right), M.C.
Vaughn is listed with an arrow from his primary residence nextdoor at lot 15 to include lot 14.
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Merrill C. Vaughn was a prolific developer and
“plasterer's contractor.” He was listed as such ina 1912
article detailing a check forging scheme in which Vaughn
himself was a victim:

From the Oakland Enquirer July 23rd, 1912

Vaughn constructed numerous homes in the area throughout this period. Several residential properties on nearby
Oak Grove Ave. (5633 & 5641) are architectural “twins” of 5837-9 (Permits 24290 & 24291, Aug. 9, 1911,
owner & builder M.C. Vaughn, 1.5 story 6 room dwellings, 200 & 250" N of Forest St., $3685 each) -
displaying nearly identical features and layouts, including texture cement foundation, asymmetrical % porch L
shaped porch, position of front door, and dual picture windows.

Houses at 5633 (left) and 5641 (vight) Oak Grove Ave. Oakland CA
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Vaughn went on to obtain work contracts for bay area schools and hospitals, including: Highland Hospital;
Lincoln school in Santa Rosa; Grant, Hawthorne, and Jefferson schools in San Jose.

Articles from the Santa Rosa Republican, Oct. 26th 1922; the Oakland Enquirer Oct. 3rd, 1921, and the
Peninsula Times Tribune Nov. 24th, 1920
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Unfortunately, and though he was listed in many social articles in the Oakland Tribune as an officer of the

Knights of Pythias, it seems Vaughn was out over his skis. In a front page article in December 1922 he was
detailed as having “cashed check and disappeared.”

From the Oakland Tribune Dec. 20, 1922

Seven days after the Dec. 20th article the contract for work on Highland hospital
was noted as transferred in the Oakland Tribune.

A year and a half later M.C. Vaughn was found living and working in Los
Angeles as a carpenter. Apparently he was indicted by the federal grand jury
alongside his brother, Wiley T. Vaughn on charges of conspiracy to “defeat the
bankruptcy laws.”
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In 1913, well before M.C. Vaughn ran into trouble in the middle of his larger contracts, the Craftsman style
house at 5837-9 Ayala Ave was completed. Caroline A. Wilson was listed as the owner in the 1913 block book
& as resident (with an assessment for “p.p” or personal property) in the 1915 block book.

Images from the 1913 block book (left) and 1915 block book (right).

Newspaper articles from the same time cite two other female residents at the house in addition to Caroline A.
Wilson: Mrs. S. Hughes and Helen Pierce.

From a 1913 Christmas Day Oakland Enquirer article

regarding local crime, named Mrs. S. Hughes as residing at
5837 Ayala Ave.

Another article (right) from the
Oakland Enquirer on May 16, 1915
notes that Helen Pierce - apparently a
child - was living at 5837 Ayala.
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Residents would have enjoyed easy access to a variety of entertainment options, particularly at the nearby Idora
Park (below) a mere four blocks away.

L: Patrons enjoying the social offerings of Idora Park c. 1912,
from the Wikipedia article on Idora Park.

Idora Park, which evolved from the earlier Ayala Park, was a
cultural epicenter of East Bay living in the early 1900s, featuring
a range of attractions such as a roller coaster, skating rink,
ballroom, and an open-air amphitheater that hosted opera
performances and famous entertainers like Fatty Arbuckle and
Buster Keaton (Oakland Tribune May 17, 1970 page 21).

Above: Idora Park NE view (1907, Ted Wurm coll.)

By 1921, ownership of the Ayala property had
transferred to Arthur and Ethel F. Walthew, as
indicated in the block book from that year (right).
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The Walthews came from Detroit. Arthur worked as a manager
for an automotive repair company (as listed in the Oakland
Directory), which coincidentally shares similarity with a future
owner many years later named Robert Pratt. The Walthew family
maintained ownership of the house for a considerable length of
time, spanning several decades. Permits from 1941 (below) reveal
that the house underwent an alteration to expand the small dormer
+ attic into a second story flat, transforming it from a 1.5-story,
five-room house into a two-story, eight-room house with two
separate units.

From the Oakland Tribune Feb. 19th, 1933

From the Oakland Directory, the listing showing
Arthur Walthew s automotive business.

1941 permit from the City of Oakland Permit
Microfiche website showing the expansion of the house
to the duplex it is today: “Convert 2nd floor into 3 room
flat. Alteration. Raise Roof I — 6 — for 8’ ceiling over

... the rest becomes unreadable.
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In 1964 Jack Walthew is listed as the admin of his mother’s estate on an application for report of residential
building record (below).
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John and Lois Hollenbeck seemed to have bought the house at some point between 1964 and 1968. They are
listed on permits from that year to address issues such as termite and dry rot damage - while a flurry of

disgruntled correspondence indicates they may have potentially snuck in an unpermitted addition to the upstairs
unit that added another 3 rooms. (See resume below)

Documentation associated with a package of permits spanning this time period, from the City of Oakland
Permit Microfiche website
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The house's most recent previous owner, Robert Pratt, had a long history with the property, having been listed
as a resident as early as 1973 in the Bell Directory. Pratt, who initially rented the duplex before purchasing it
from his landlord in the 1970s or 1980s, was known as a local character with a passion for car collecting and
activism related to bicycling and parking. He successfully campaigned against street cleaning in the
neighborhood, resulting in the unique absence of recurring street cleaning on this particular block. Pratt's love
for cars was evident in his collection of Ford Cortinas, which he stored in the backyard, garage, driveway, and
nearby lots, while also operating a specialty mechanic shop focused on these vehicles out of the home's garage.
Note: The writers of this application and current owners of 5837-9, Rosie Raizen and Josh Benjamin, got to
know Robert before his death in 2020 and wound up purchasing the property from his estate in December 2022.
This information about Robert Pratt that was not our first-hand experience has been corroborated orally many
times over by neighbors and Pratt’s surviving relatives.

Photograph of 5837-39 garage c. 2021 of Lotus Cortina and parts in the garage
from a web page titled Huge 15 Cortina Stash Including Two Lotus Cortinas!
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The Vaughn (M.C.)-Wilson (Caroline) house at 5837-9 Ayala Ave serves as a testament to the early residential
development that occurred in Temescal as Oakland experienced significant growth in the late 19th and early
20th centuries. This growth was largely facilitated by the introduction of new transportation options, such as the

Telegraph steam train extension to the Berkeley campus (built in 1873), followed by the addition of new electric
streetcar lines in 1904 and 1911.

Photograph c. 1945 from the Oakland public library, description “A streetcar rolls past the East Bay Railwys
Ltd. car barn on Telegraph Ave. at 50th St. Excerpt from the article In the days of the streetcar, Temescal was a
busy, commercial hub on oaklandnorth.net

The success of the Claremont Home Tract inspired the development of numerous similar residential tracts in the
following years, extending further into the Oakland hills alongside tracts such as Country Club Heights.

Photo from the Oakland public library collection c. 1910, showing the tract office for Country Club Heights
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Today, this North Temescal/Rockridge neighborhood continues to thrive as a vibrant and dynamic community,
with Ayala Avenue standing out for its distinctive street murals, strange block shape, and the nearby Ayala Park,
located at the intersection of Ayala Ave and 57th Street, which was established largely through the efforts of
local community activist John Wagers (1919-2020).

Ayala park (left) and one of Ayala's street murals, at Ayala & Herman facing south



8.

Texts
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
[ J
[ ]

Landmark, S-7, §-20, or Heritage Property Application p.22
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Chabot near College 1931 https://calisphere.org/item/14e3aeaecf2d53c624a4ea2a513de354/
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https://static1.squarespace.com/static/601ecc4b7b0{f91513eaa91e/t/64595b52d28{427e5ctdc360/16835
77683632/ VOL+11+NO+01.pdf



https://newscomca.newspapers.com/
https://oaklandnorth.net/2012/02/20/in-the-days-of-the-streetcar-temescal-was-a-busy-commercial-hub/
https://commissions.sfplanning.org/hpcpackets/2011.0059U.pdf
https://localwiki.org/oakland/Idora_Park
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Idora_Park#
https://apps.oaklandca.gov/kiosk/microfiche.aspx
https://barnfinds.com/lotus-cortina-barn-find
https://calisphere.org/item/dd6c9050da61bddf75f340b9ff4f350b/
https://calisphere.org/item/6c2c1a3616cd9b69488967aabfe0bcad/
https://calisphere.org/item/a85b3b13b8c7d1b23ad9294aeb17ebcc/
https://calisphere.org/item/14e3aeaecf2d53c624a4ea2a513de354/
https://calisphere.org/item/80b2474f4ed8543adff48a0a516e46a6/
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/601ecc4b7b0ff91513eaa91e/t/64595b52d28f427e5cfdc360/1683577683632/VOL+11+NO+01.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/601ecc4b7b0ff91513eaa91e/t/64595b52d28f427e5cfdc360/1683577683632/VOL+11+NO+01.pdf

Landmark, S-7, S-20, or Heritage Property Application p.23

10. FORM PREPARED BY

Name: Rosie Raizen & Josh Benjamin

Organization/Title (if any): Date: 4/24/2024

Address: 5837 Ayala Ave Telephone: 267-205-2656 (Rosie) and 217-369-6325 (Josh)

City: Oakland | State: CA | Zip: 94609 | Email: rosieraizen(@gmail.com + josh.benjamin@gmail.com

DEPARTMENTAL USE ONLY rev
1/10/2020

A. Accepted by: Date:

B. Action by Landmarks Preservation Advisory Board

(1) _ Recommended  Notrecommended for Landmark/ S-7/S-20 designation

Date: Resolution number:

(2) Designated as Heritage Property Date:

Action by City Planning Commission Date:

Recommended Not recommended for Landmark/ S-7/S-20 designation
Action by City Council Date:

Designated: Ordinance No: Not Designated
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